IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC11-428

PAUL C. HILDWIN,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HERNANDO COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARTIN J. MCCLAIN Florida Bar No. 0754773 McClain & McDermott, P.A. Attorneys at Law 141 NE 30th Street Wilton Manors, FL 33334 (305) 984-8344

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Citations in this brief to designate references to the records, followed by the appropriate page number, are as follows:

"R. ____" - Record on direct appeal to this Court from the 1986 trial;

"PC-R. ____" - Record on appeal to this Court from the Rule 3.851 proceedings in which an evidentiary hearing was conducted in 1992;

"R2. ____" - Record on direct appeal to this Court following the 1996 re-sentencing;

"PC-R2. ____" - Record on appeal to this Court from the Rule 3.851 proceedings in Case No. SC04-1264;

"PC-R3. ____" - Record on appeal to this Court from the Rule 3.851 proceedings in Case No. SC09-1417;

"All Writs ____ " - Record after this Court's relinquishment in Case No. SC10-1082;

"PC-R4. ____ " - Record in this pending appeal from the Rule 3.851 proceedings in Case No. SC11-428.

All other citations will be self-explanatory or will otherwise be explained.

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Mr. Hildwin has been sentenced to death. Mr. Hildwin's appeal raisees the issue of whether Porter v. McCollum, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009), qualifies as new Florida law under Witt v. State, 387 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1980), and whether it requires this Court to revisit Mr. Hildwin's guilt phase ineffective assistance of counsel claim and his Brady claim which were denied by this Court in 1995. In prior instances in which the U.S. Supreme Court found that this Court had failed to properly understand, construe and apply federal constitutional law in a Florida capital case, this Court has not only granted oral argument to consider whether the new U.S. Supreme Court decision qualified under Witt, but after hearing oral argument has found that the decisions did indeed qualify under Witt as new law. See Hitchcock v. Dugger, 481 U.S. 393 (1987), which was found to qualify as new Florida law under Witt in Thompson v. Dugger, 515 So. 2d 173 (Fla. 1987); and Espinosa v. Florida, 505 U.S. 1079 (1992), which was found to qualify as new Florida law under Witt in James v. State, 615 So. 2d 668 (Fla. 1993).

The resolution of the issues involved in this action will therefore determine whether or not just Mr. Hildwin lives or dies, but whether guilt phase ineffective assistance of counsel and *Brady* claims were properly analyzed by this Court when this

Court had misconstrued the *Strickland* prejudice prong standard and gave too much deference to rulings made by the judge presiding at a post-conviction evidentiary hearing. This Court has not hesitated to allow oral argument in other capital cases in a similar procedural posture. A full opportunity to air the issues through oral argument would be more than appropriate in this case, given the seriousness of the claims involved and the stakes at issue. Mr. Hildwin, through counsel, accordingly urges that the Court permit oral argument.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issues presented in this appeal consist of two parts: the first is the determination of whether *Porter* must be applied retroactively. That issue is a question of law and must be reviewed *de novo*. *See Thompson v. Dugger*, 515 So. 2d 173, 175 (Fla. 1987)("We hold we are required by this *Hitchcock* decision to re-examine this matter as a new issue of law"); *James v. State*, 615 So. 2d 668, 669 (Fla. 1993) (*Espinosa* to be applied retroactively to Mr. James because "it would not be fair to deprive him of the *Espinosa* ruling"). The second is the application of *Porter* to Mr. Hildwin's case. In that regard, deference is given only to historical facts. All other facts must be viewed in relation to how Mr. Hildwin's jury would have

viewed those facts. See Porter v. McCollum, 130 S.Ct. 447 (2009).

INTRODUCTION

On November 30, 2009, the U.S. Supreme Court issued its decision in Porter v. McCollum, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009).¹ There, the U.S. Supreme Court ruled that this Court's Strickland² analysis which appeared in Porter v. State, 788 So. 2d 917 (Fla. 2001), was "an unreasonable application of our clearly established law." Porter v. McCollum, 130 S. Ct. at 455. Under the Anti-Terrorism Effective Death Penalty Act (AEDPA), the U.S. Supreme Court was required to give deference to this Court's application of Strickland. It could not grant habeas relief from a state court judgment merely because it disagreed with the state court's application of federal constitutional law. Specifically, habeas relief could only be issued to George Porter if this Court's Strickland analysis was not just wrong, but clearly and unreasonably wrong. It is in this context that the U.S. Supreme Court's ruling in Porter v. McCollum must be read.

 2 Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

¹On November 29, 2010, Mr. Hildwin filed the Rule 3.851 that is the subject of this appeal. In that motion, Mr. Hildwin relied upon *Porter v. McCollum* and argued that it qualified under *Witt v. State*, 387 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1980), as new law which warranted revisiting Mr. Hildwin's previously presented guilt phase *Strickland* and *Brady* claims.

Though *Porter v. McCollum* specifically dealt with an ineffective assistance of penalty phase counsel claim, the defect in this Court's *Strickland* analysis that was identified by the U.S. Supreme Court is equally applicable to guilt phase ineffective assistance of counsel claims and the materiality prong of *Brady* claims.³ This Court has made clear that its prejudice prong analysis of a guilt phase ineffective assistance claims and its materiality prong analysis under *Brady* are fungible and indistinguishable from each other.

In Rivera v. State, 995 So. 2d 191, 205 (Fla. 2008), this Court recognized that "the materiality prong of Brady has been equated with the Strickland prejudice prong." Accordingly, an analysis of the Strickland prejudice prong precluded the need to perform an identical analysis for the materiality prong of Brady and vice-a-versa. See Derrick v. State, 983 So. 2d 443 (Fla. 2008). Indeed, in United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667 (1985), the U.S. Supreme Court expressly adopted the Strickland prejudice prong standard, *i.e.* "reasonable probability of a different outcome", as the standard to be used when conducting the materiality analysis of undisclosed favorable information in Brady cases. Thus, the U.S. Supreme Court's rejection in Porter

³Brady v, Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).

v. McCollum of this Court's Strickland prejudice prong analysis as too deferential to the lower court considering a penalty phase ineffectiveness claim applies with equal force where this Court has been inappropriately deferential to a lower's court rejection of guilt phase ineffective assistance claims and Brady claims for either a want of prejudice or materiality.

Mr. Hildwin's current appeal requires this Court to engage in an introspective look at the import of the decision in *Porter v. McCollum* in the context of guilt ineffective assistance of counsel claims and *Brady* claims. This Court must consider whether its own unreasonable analysis in *Porter v. State* was merely an aberration limited solely to the penalty phase ineffectiveness claim in that case or was it in fact indicative of a systemic failure by this Court to properly understand and apply *Strickland*.⁴

⁴The question that must be addressed is whether the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in *Porter* represents a fundamental repudiation of this Court's *Strickland* jurisprudence, and as such *Porter* constitutes a change in law as explained herein, which renders Mr. Hildwin's *Porter* claim cognizable in Rule 3.851 proceedings. *See Witt v. State*, 387 So. 2d 922, 925 (Fla. 1980) (a change in law can be raised in postconviction if it: "(a) emanates from this Court or the United States Supreme Court, (b) is constitutional in nature, and (c) constitutes a development of fundamental significance . . . ") *Id*. at 931.

In the relatively recent past, this Court has on two occasions assessed the effect to be accorded to a decision by the U.S. Supreme Court finding that this Court had misapprehended and misapplied U.S. Supreme Court precedent. In *Hitchcock v. Dugger*, 481 U.S. 393 (1987), the U.S. Supreme Court granted federal habeas relief because this Court had failed to properly apply *Lockett v. Ohio*, 438 U.S. 586 (1978). In *Hitchcock*, this Court had failed to find Eighth Amendment error when a capital jury was not advised that it could and should consider non-statutory mitigating circumstances while deliberating in a capital penalty phase proceeding on whether to recommend a death sentence.⁵

The other U.S. Supreme Court case finding that this Court had failed to properly apply federal constitutional law was *Espinosa v. Florida*, 505 U.S. 1079 (1992). There, the U.S. Supreme Court summarily reversed a decision by this Court which found that *Maynard v. Cartwright*, 486 U.S. 356 (1988), was not

⁵The AEDPA was not in effect at the time of the decision in *Hitchcock v. Dugger*, so there was no need for the U.S. Supreme Court to determine that this Court's decision was clearly or unreasonably wrong. The U.S. Supreme Court's review in *Hitchcock* was *de novo*.

applicable in Florida because the jury's verdict in a Florida capital penalty phase proceedings was merely advisory.⁶

Following the decisions in Hitchcock v. Dugger and Espinosa v. Florida, this Court was called upon to address whether other death sentenced individuals whose death sentences had also been affirmed by this Court due to the same misapprehension of federal law should arbitrarily be denied the benefit of the proper construction and application of federal constitutional On both occasions, this Court determined that fairness law. dictated that those, who had not received from this Court the benefit of the proper application of federal constitutional law, should be allowed to re-present their claims and have those claims judged under the proper constitutional standards. See Thompson v. Dugger, 515 So. 2d 173, 175 (Fla. 1987)("We hold we are required by this Hitchcock decision to re-examine this matter as a new issue of law"); James v. State, 615 So. 2d 668, 669 (Fla. 1993) (Espinosa to be applied retroactively to Mr.

⁶The decision by the U.S. Supreme Court in *Espinosa v*. *Florida* was in the course of direct review of this Court's decision affirming a death sentence on direct appeal. The U.S. Supreme Court's decision was not through the prism of federal habeas review, and thus the U.S. Supreme Court employed *de novo* review.

James because "it would not be fair to deprive him of the *Espinosa* ruling").

Mr. Hildwin, whose ineffective assistance of guilt phase counsel claim and guilt phase *Brady* claim were heard and decided by this Court before *Porter v. McCollum* was rendered, seeks in this appeal what George Porter received. Mr. Hildwin seeks to have his *Brady* and ineffectiveness claims reheard and reevaluated using the proper *Strickland* standard that U.S. Supreme Court applied in Mr. Porter's case to find a re-sentencing was warranted.⁷ Mr. Hildwin seeks the benefit of the same rule of law that was applied to Mr. Porter's ineffective assistance of counsel claims. Mr. Hildwin seeks the proper application of the *Strickland* standard. Mr. Hildwin seeks to be treated equally and fairly.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 21, 1985, Mr. Hildwin was arrested on charges of uttering a forged instrument in Hernando County, Florida. On November 22, 1985, Mr. Hildwin was indicted for the first degree

⁷When Mr. Porter's case was returned to the circuit court for a re-sentencing, a life sentence was imposed.

murder of Vronzettie Cox.⁸ On April 22, 1986, the public defender's office withdrew as Mr. Hildwin's counsel due to a conflict. As a result, Daniel Lewan was appointed to represent Mr. Hildwin.⁹

⁸On the evening of September 12, 1985, Bernice Moore reported her sister, Vronzettie Cox, as missing to law enforcement. Law enforcement began trying to trace Cox's last known activities the next day, September 13, 1985. Coincidently, sometime on September 13th, two men riding motorcycles through the woods discovered a 1984 brown Chevrolet stuck in the mud at the edge of a lake (R. 235-41). The men later notified law enforcement. After the Hernando County Sheriff's Office learned that a car had been seen stuck in the mud at the edge of a lake, deputies responded. Cox's nude body was found in the vehicle's trunk (R. 248-50). A pathologist examining the body concluded that death was a result of strangulation (R. 298).

A laundry bag full of clothes was also found in the car. The State suggested that the clothes on top of the laundry bag were the clothes that Cox must have had contact with right before her death. The State presented forensic evidence that a pair of women's panties found on top of the laundry bag were semen stained, and that a wash rag also located on top of the laundry bag was saliva stained.

Law enforcement discovered that the last check cashed on Cox's checking account was made out to Mr. Hildwin. When the check was cashed at around 12:30 PM on September 9, 1985, the teller wrote information taken from Mr. Hildwin's driver's license on the back of the check (R. 406). As a result, law enforcement contacted Mr. Hildwin. After he was interviewed, he was charged with uttering a forged instrument. Subsequently, he was indicted for the murder on the theory that Cox was murdered by Mr. Hildwin before he cashed the check at round 12:30 PM on September 9th.

⁹At an evidentiary hearing in 1992, Mr. Lewan testified that he had no prior experience with capital cases (PC-R. 3048, 3123-24). Mr. Hildwin's case was the first time that he had been Four months after Mr. Lewan was first appointed to

represent Mr. Hildwin in his first capital case, the case went to trial on August 25, 1986.¹⁰ Mr. Lewan testified in 1992 that

appointed to represent someone in which the State was seeking a death sentence. Besides having no capital experience, Mr. Lewan had no one to assist him in the case. A second chair was not appointed.

 $^{10}\mathrm{Mr.}$ Lewan graduated from law school in December 1982 and was admitted to the Florida Bar the following year (PC-R. 3046). In his first three years as an attorney leading up to the 1986 jury trial in Paul Hildwin's capital case, Mr. Lewan had handled "about six jury trials" which he recalled were "A couple of DUI's, drug possession &, AG assaults, things of that nature" (PC-R. 3048). Mr. Hildwin was the first death penalty client Mr. Lewan had represented after his admission to the Florida Bar (PC-R. 3123). Mr. Lewan represented Mr. Hildwin as a result of his contract with the public defender's office to handle all conflict cases for a year from July 1, 1985, until June 30, 1986 (PC-R. 3050). The contract paid a flat \$12,000 for the one year period covered by the contract (PC-R. 3051). To the best of Mr. Lewan's recall, the contract was not renewed (PC-R. 3051). Pursuant to the provisions of the contract, Mr. Lewan was appointed to represent Mr. Hildwin on April 22, 1986 (PC-R. 3052). Mr. Lewan was provided no additional assistance by another attorney (PC-R. 3048, 3051). He had his office secretary to help (PC-R. 3054). He was also able to get an investigator with Global Security to provide some assistance (PC-R. 3055). Because of difficulty he had in getting police reports, he filed a motion requesting the State to supply all police reports (PC-R. 3057). Mr. Lewan testified in 1992 that he believed he had some police reports, but he did not believe that he had them all. His motion was dated August 7, 1986, just weeks before trial commenced on August 25, 1986 (PC-R. 3058). Trial counsel entered the case "approximately four months prior to trial" (PC-R. 3121), and had to complete all his preparation in that period. Counsel had no meaningful experience with death penalty litigation (PC-R. 3123-24). Counsel did not seek the advice of anyone who had experience conducting a capital penalty phase, had never observed a penalty phase, and had never read

the theory of defense at the 1986 trial was innocence. The window of opportunity for Mr. Hildwin to have committed the murder was narrow (an hour and a half period of time on the morning of September 9, 1985) (PC-R. 3060).¹¹ In that vein, Mr. Lewan looked for ways to shift the time frame.¹² He also was looking for other suspects who committed the murder, primarily William Haverty, the victim's live-in boyfriend.¹³

the penalty phase testimony of a mental health expert (PC-R. 3135).

¹¹Mr. Lewan testified in 1992 that he believed that evidence showing that the victim was alive after the one and a half window of time that closed at about noon on September 9th "would have effectively destroyed the State's case" (PC-R. 3060). With that in my mind, such evidence that the victim was alive the night of September 9th or the afternoon of September 10th or even later, Mr. Lewan would have seized upon and presented had he been aware of it.

¹²At the 1992 post-conviction evidentiary hearing, it was established that the victim's niece, Terry Moore told the police that he spent several hours with the victim at a bar on the night of September 9, 1985 (PC-R. 3367-92). In 2001, Laura Say Harrison told Mr. Hildwin's collateral counsel that she knew the victim and saw her at a bar one afternoon later in the week, a couple of days before her body was found on Friday, September 13th. However, Mr. Lewan was unaware of either Mr. Moore or Ms. Harrison and called neither to testify at Mr. Hildwin's trial.

¹³In his opening statement, Mr. Lewan told the jury:

Now, we're not going to present all the evidence, the volume of evidence the state has presented. We don't have that []...We're going to show that the victim was a 42 year old female. She was living with a 23 year old man. We're going to show that he [Haverty] had Though the State had not formally charged Mr. Hildwin with sexual assault, it was the State's contention that the murder was committed by Mr. Hildwin either in the course of or following a sexual assault on the victim.¹⁴ In the prosecutor's opening statement, he informed the jury that Paul Hildwin's semen and saliva matched the semen and saliva found on the victim's panties and washcloth located at the crime scene:

just as equal an opportunity as my client to have committed this crime.

(R. 731-32).

¹⁴The state explained that it intended to argue that the evidence would provide the State with a basis for arguing that the victim was sexually assaulted by Mr. Hildwin at a side bar:

> Judge, first of all, I feel that the evidence that's going to come out in this case showing this victim unclothed with a ligature around her neck, with her legs bent over her head and forced into the trunk of a car, her clothes found in various areas in the county, a reasonable inference can be made that a sexual assault occurred and we certainly intend to argue that if the evidence supports it.

(R. 1181). Subsequently, the prosecutor elaborated:

I don't anticipate standing up or Mr. Cole standing up and screaming sexual battery. But when we get to the point in the trial where enough evidence has been put before the jury within a reasonable inference that a sexual battery occurred, we intend to refer to it.

(R. 1185).

Finally taken from that laundry bag was a pair of women's clothing sitting on top of the laundry bag, a pair of women's panties and a wash rag. Now, on those panties was some semen and it has the same blood characteristics that the defendant has. And there will be an expert from the FBI to testify to you about that. On the wash rag there are characteristics of human sweat that is consistent with this defendant.

(R. 223-4).¹⁵

During the State's case, it introduced the semen-stained women's panties and a sweat/saliva stained wash rag found on top of the laundry bag in the victim's car (R. 697-99).¹⁶ Evidence was introduced that forensic analysis had determined that the semen and sweat/saliva found on these items came from a nonsecretor (i.e., an individual who does not secrete blood

¹⁵In testimony presented to the jury by the State, it was advised that the biological evidence matched only 11% of the male population that included Paul Hildwin due to Mr. Hildwin's unique status as a non-secretor.

¹⁶The State also introduced a brassiere that was found inside the victim's purse (R. 546-48). Evidence was presented that the purse had been found discarded in some brush approximately a quarter of a mile from Mr. Hildwin's home (R. 536). Based upon the condition of the brassiere inside the purse the State asserted that it had been violently ripped off of the victim in the course of a sexual assault by Mr. Hildwin.

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