IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC11-428

PAUL CHRISTOPHER HILDWIN

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR HERNANDO COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar No. 998818 444 SEABREEZE BLVD., 5th Floor DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 32118 (386)238-4990 FAX-(386)226-0457

##

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

### ANALYSIS

Hildwin raises two issues for this Court's review: (1) ineffective assistance of penalty-phase counsel for failing to investigate, prepare, and present mitigating evidence, and (2) ineffective assistance of penalty-phase counsel in failing to object to improper remarks made by the prosecutor in closing argument. [FN4]

[FN4] We reject the State's contention that Hildwin has abandoned or waived the claims at issue in this case. The delay between the filing of the postconviction motion and the evidentiary hearing was caused by the unique and unusual procedural posture of this case. While the postconviction motion at issue was pending in the trial court, DNA testing was conducted on two items found at the crime scene. The DNA test excluded Hildwin as the source of the DNA profile found on the items, and Hildwin moved for postconviction relief on the basis of the test results. The trial court denied relief, and this Court agreed in a four-three decision, holding that "[a]lthough discovered DNA the newly evidence is significant, this evidence is not 'of such nature that it would probably produce an acquittal on retrial.'" Hildwin v. State (Hildwin IV), 951 So. 2d 784, 789 (Fla. 2006).

The DNA results are also the subject of a pending all-writs petition in this Court, which seeks to have the DNA profile compared to DNA profiles in CODIS (the FBI-maintained and national DNA databank) the Florida databank statewide for the purpose of identifying the source of the DNA. See Hildwin v. State, No. SC10-1082 (Fla. pet. filed June 9, 2010).

Hildwin v. State, 36 Fla. L. Weekly S234, \_\_\_\_ (Fla. June 2, 2011).

On November 29, 2010, Hildwin filed a second successive motion to vacate based on *Porter v. McCollum*, 558 U.S. \_\_, 130 S.Ct. 447, 175 L.Ed.2d 398 (2009). (V1, R1-290). The State responded. (V1, R30-64). The case management conference was held January 18, 2011. (V1, R80-172). The trial judge denied the successive 3.851 motion on January 31, 2011. (V1, R67-71).

The trial judge held:

Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure Rule 3.851(d)(1)provides: "Any motion to vacate judgment of conviction and sentence shall be filed within 1 year after the judgment and sentence become final." *Id.* Subsection (d)(2)(b) provides that no motion shall be filed or considered pursuant to this rule if filed beyond the time limitation provided in subsection (d)(1) unless one of either three exceptions is met. Relevant to the Defendant's pending motion is the second exception which provides: "the fundamental constitutional right asserted was not established within the period provided for in subdivision (d)(1) and has been held to apply retroactively." *Fl. R. Crim. P.* 3.851(d)(2)(B).

The Florida Supreme Court held that a change in law can be raised in postconviction if it: "(a) emanates from this Court or the United States Supreme Court, (b) is constitutional in nature, and (c) constitutes a development of fundamental significance..." *Witt v. State*, 387 So. 2d 922, 931 (Fla. 1980).

In the instant motion, Defendant alleges that the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Porter v. McCollum*, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009), represents "a fundamental repudiation of the Florida Supreme Court's *Strickland* jurisprudence, and as such Porter constitutes a change in law which renders the Defendant's claim cognizable in these postconviction proceedings." (Defendant's Motion page 2.)

In arguing that *Porter* represents a "fundamental repudiation of the Florida Supreme Court's *Strickland* jurisprudence" the Defendant analogizes *Porter* and its relationship to *Strickland* v. *Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984) to that of *Hitchcock* v. *Dugger*, 481 U.S. 393 (1987) and its relationship to *Lockett* v. *Ohio*, 438 U.S. 586 (1978).

In *Lockett v. Ohio*, the U.S. Supreme Court held that mitigating factors in a capital case cannot be limited such that sentencers are precluded from considering "any aspect of a defendant's character or record and any of the circumstances of the offense." *Lockett v. Ohio*, 481 U.S. at 604.

Prior to the U.S. Supreme Court's opinion in *Hitchcock*, the Florida Supreme Court interpreted Lockett to mean that a defendant merely have the opportunity to present mitigation evidence during the sentencing phase of a capital murder case. However, in *Hitchcock*, the United States Supreme Court stated that the Florida Supreme Court had misunderstood what Lockett required. The *Hitchcock* Court held that a capital sentencer must be free to consider and give effect to any mitigating circumstance that it found to be present, whether or not the particular mitigating circumstance had been statutorily identified. *See id.* at 1070.

As noted in the Defendant's Motion, following *Hitchcock*, the Florida Supreme Court found that *Hitchcock* "represents a substantial change in the law" such that it was "constrained to readdress...*Lockett* claim[s] on [their] merits." *Delap v. Dugger*, 513 So. 2d 659 (Fla. 1987) citing Downs v. Dugger, 514 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 1987).

Defendant argues that just as *Hitchcock* rejected the Florida Supreme Court's analysis in *Lockett*, *Porter* has rejected the Florida Supreme Court's analysis and application of *Strickland*.

Nowhere within the *Porter* decision, however, did the U.S. Supreme Court indicate or imply that Porter represents "a repudiation of Strickland jurisprudence" that constitutes a significant change in law to be applied retroactively. The *Porter* Court merely held that the Florida Supreme Court had erred in holding that Defendant's counsel during the sentencing phase was not ineffective for failing to introduce certain mitigating factors that could have altered the sentencing verdict against the Defendant. An objective reading of *Porter* indicates that its holding stems from and is confined to the specific facts of the *Porter* case itself.

Moreover, the Defendant has not cited any cases where either the United States Supreme Court or the Florida Supreme Court has indicated that *Porter* establishes a new fundamental right that is to be applied retroactively. In fact, the Florida Supreme Court has addressed a number of ineffective assistance of counsel claims since *Porter*, using the same *Strickland* framework that the United States Supreme Court used in *Porter*. *See Everett v*. *State*, 2010 WL 4007643 (Fla. Oct. 14, 2010); *Schoenwetter v. State*, 46 So. 3d 535 (Fla. 2010); *Stewart v*. *State*, 37 So. 3d 243, 247 (Fla. 2010).

Claims raised in prior postconviction proceedings cannot be re-litigated in a successive postconviction motion unless the defendant can demonstrate that the grounds for relief were not known and could not have been known at the time of earlier proceeding. *See Wright v. State*, 857 So. 2d 801, 868 (Fla. 2003). Defendant argues that in light of *Porter*, it is necessary to conduct a new prejudice analysis on both the guilt phase ineffective assistance of counsel claim and the  $Brady^{1}$  claim in this case.

Since *Porter* does not establish a new fundamental right that is to be applied retroactively, the Defendant's claim is barred as untimely. Further, since the substance of the Defendant's pending motion was raised in Defendant's 1995 Post Conviction Motion that was denied by this Court and affirmed by the Florida Supreme Court, Defendant's pending Motion is denied as inappropriately successive as a matter of law.

(V1, R68-70).

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Hildwin's successive Rule 3.851 motion is time-barred and does not come within any exception to Rule 3.851(d)(2). The motion was an attempt to relitigate his previously-denied (in 1995) guilt phase ineffectiveness of counsel claim and/or *Brady* claim under the theory that *Porter v. McCollum*, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009) is a retroactively-applicable "change in law." Despite Hildwin's insistence to the contrary, *Porter* is no more than the United States Supreme Court's application of *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984), to the particular facts of that case. The Supreme Court did <u>not</u> hold that the *Porter* decision established a new fundamental constitutional right that is to apply retroactively.

The trial court held Hildwin's motion untimely, successive, procedurally barred, facially insufficient, and unauthorized under

9

Rule 3.851(d)(1),3.851 (d)(2), and 3.851 (e)(2), of the *Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure*. These rulings should be affirmed. Finally, collateral counsel is not authorized to file the this successive motion, anyway. *See*, § 27.702(1) and § 27.711(1)(c), *Fla. Stat*.

### STANDARDS OF REVIEW

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851(f)(5)(B) permits summary denial of a successive motion for post-conviction relief without an evidentiary hearing "[i]f the motion, files, and records in the case conclusively show that the movant is entitled to no relief." Williamson v. State, 961 So. 2d 229, 234 (Fla. 2007). This Court reviews the circuit court's decision to summarily deny a successive rule 3.851 motion *de novo*, accepting the movant's factual allegations as true to the extent they are not refuted by the record, and affirming the ruling if the record conclusively shows that the movant is entitled to no relief. Walton v. State, 3 So. 3d 1000, 1005 (Fla. 2009), citing State v. Coney, 845 So. 2d 120, 137 (Fla. 2003); Fla. R.Crim. P. 3.851(f)(5)(B).

In order to support summary denial, "the trial court must either state its rationale in the order denying relief or attach portions of the record that would refute the claims." *Nixon v. State*, 932 So. 2d 1009, 1018 (Fla. 2006). Here, as in *Rose v. State*, 985 So. 2d 500 (Fla. 2008), the trial court entered a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83<sub>10</sub>1963).

comprehensive written order disclosing the basis for the summary denial of Hildwin's successive motion to vacate and providing for meaningful appellate review. *Id.*, *citing Nixon*, 932 So. 2d at 1018.

#### ARGUMENT

TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT ERR IN DENYING THE THE SUCCESSIVE MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF. HILDWIN'S RULE 3.851 MOTION TO VACATE WAS UNTIMELY, SUCCESSIVE, PROCEDURALLY BARRED, UNAUTHORIZED AND FAILED TO PRESENT ANY NEW FUNDAMENTAL CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT THAT HAS BEEN HELD TO APPLY RETROACTIVELY

Hildwin raises several issues in this appeal, and asserts an entitlement to relitigate his guilt phase ineffective assistance of counsel claims and/or *Brady* claim on the ground that *Porter v*. *McCollum*, 558 U.S. ---, 130 S.Ct. 447 (2009) allegedly changed the *Strickland* prejudice analysis and should be retroactively applied. The only questions properly before this Court are: 1) Did *Porter* change the law and, 2) if so, has the alleged change in law been held to apply retroactively under *Witt v*. *State*, 387 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1980)? Because the answer to both questions is no, further review of the issues presented is not warranted.

No court has held that *Porter* established a new fundamental constitutional right that is to be applied retroactively. *Porter* does not constitute a change in law cognizable in a collateral proceeding under the standards of *Witt v. State*, 387 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1980). This Court's previous affirmance of the denial of Hildwin's ineffectiveness claims was not premised upon any misreading or misapplication of Strickland v. Washington, 466 U. S.

668 (1984).

The trial judge properly denied the successive motion as follows:

Since *Porter* does not establish a new fundamental right that is to be applied retroactively, the Defendant's claim is barred as untimely. Further, since the substance of the Defendant's pending motion was raised in Defendant's 1995 Post Conviction Motion that was denied by this Court and affirmed by the Florida Supreme Court, Defendant's pending Motion is denied as inappropriately successive as a matter of law.

## (V1, R70).

The trial judge also found:

- Porter is the United States Supreme Court's application of Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984) to the particular facts of that case;

-Unlike *Porter*, the undersigned judge and the Supreme Court of Florida specifically found that trial defense counsel's performance was not deficient;

- Both the lower court and this Court also conducted a full analysis of the prejudice prong under *Strickland*,

(V1, R69-70). The trial court's order summarily denying Hildwin's

successive motion to vacate should be affirmed.

Hildwin's successive Rule 3.851 motion to vacate is time-barred and does not meet any exception under Rule 3.851(d)(2)(B).

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851(d)(2)(B) requires any motion to vacate judgment of conviction and death sentence to be filed within one year after the judgment and sentence become final, unless the motion alleges that a fundamental constitutional right was established after that period and "has been held to apply retroactively." *Fla. R. Crim. P.* 3.851(d)(2)(B).<sup>2</sup> Hildwin's successive Rule 3.851 motion failed to satisfy both of the prongs required for this exception.

The guilt stage of Hildwin's trial became final in 1989. Hildwin v. Florida, 490 U.S. 638 (1989). Hildwin's sentence became final in 1999, when the United States Supreme Court denied certiorari. See, Hildwin v. Florida, 528 U.S. 856, 120 S.Ct. 139, 145 L.Ed.2d 119 (1999); Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(1)(B) (judgment becomes final "on the disposition of the petition for writ of certiorari by the United States Supreme Court"). Hildwin's 2010 successive Rule 3.851 motion, which challenges the guilt stage, is untimely by more than 20 years.<sup>3</sup>

Although there is an exception to the time limitation in 3.851(d)(2)(B), which would restart the clock for a new fundamental

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The use of the past tense in a rule conveys the meaning that an action has already occurred. Sims v. State, 753 So. 2d 66, 70 (Fla. 2000). Thus, Hildwin could not plausibly invoke the exception in Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(2)(B). Instead, Hildwin had to show that a new fundamental constitutional right was established and has been held retroactive for the exception to apply. See Tyler v. Cain, 533 U.S. 656 (2001) (holding that use of past tense in federal statute regarding successive federal habeas petitions requires Court to hold new rule retroactive before it can be relied upon).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> As to any penalty phase issues, that judgment became final in 1999. *Hildwin v. Florida*, 528 U.S. 856 (1999). Hildwin also asserts a claim of newly discovered evidence (*Initial Brief* at 71-75) based on *Porter*. This Court has rejected *Porter* as the basis for a newly discovered evidence claim. *Grossman v. State*, 29 So. 3d 1034, 1042 (Fla. 2010).

constitutional right that has been held to apply retroactively, Porter is not a new right of any sort -- it is not "new" at all.

# Porter is not a retroactive change in law.

No court has held that *Porter* established a new fundamental constitutional right that is to be applied retroactively. Since *Porter* was decided, both this Court and the federal courts, including the United States Supreme Court, have uniformly reinforced the application of *Strickland* to claims of ineffective assistance of counsel.<sup>4</sup> See, Harrington v. Richter, 131 S.Ct. 770 (2011); Premo v. Moore, 131 S.Ct. 733 (2011); Cullen v. Pinholster, 131 S.Ct. 1388 (2011); Padilla v. Kentucky, 130 S.Ct. 1473 (2010); Renico v. Lett, 130 S.Ct. 1855 (2010); Sears v. Upton, 130 S.Ct. 3259 (2010).

Porter is no more than the application of Strickland to the facts of Porter's case -- it does not provide any cognizable basis to relitigate Hildwin's guilt phase ineffectiveness claim. Porter changed nothing about the Strickland ineffective assistance of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Porter is squarely based on Strickland. See Porter, 130 S. Ct. at 452. This Court has recognized that Porter does not change the application of the ineffective assistance of counsel analysis under Strickland. See, Everett v. State, 54 So. 3d 464, 472 (Fla. 2010); Schoenwetter v. State, 46 So. 3d 535 (Fla. 2010); Stewart v. State, 37 So. 3d 243, 247 (Fla. 2010); Rodriguez v. State, 39 So. 3d 275, 285 (Fla. 2010); Troy v. State, 57 So. 3d 828, 836 (Fla. 2011); Franqui v. State, 2011 WL 31379, 8 (Fla. 2011). The Eleventh Circuit has also applied, and distinguished, Porter. See, Reed v. Secretary, Florida Dept. of Corrections, 593 F. 3d 1217, 1243 n. 16, and 1246 (11th Cir. 2010); Boyd v. Allen, 592 F. 3d 1274, 1302

counsel analysis. Moreover, this Court has not been misapplying *Strickland's* standard of review -- the standard of review contained in *Stephens* is expressly compelled by *Strickland*. And, even if Hildwin could somehow demonstrate that *Porter* represents both a "change in law" and that it satisfies the requirements for retroactivity under *Witt*, Hildwin's attempt to relitigate the prejudice prong is immaterial because this Court previously denied Hildwin's guilt phase ineffectiveness claim on the deficiency prong of *Strickland*.

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